BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
OF THE SE%TE OF TENNESSEE AT NASHVILLE

z.gx ,” gw(; o

TID Order No.: 10-046
A.D. VALLETT & CO., LLC, '
AD. VALLETT & COMPANY,
AD. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND LLLLC, )
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND I1, LLC))
A.D. VALLETT INCOME & OPPORTUNITY )

TENI\ESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION, )

TENNESSEE INSURANCE E}WISION )
Petitioners. ) Docket # 12.06-108775J

)
VS, ) TSD Order No.: 10-008

)

)

)

FUND I, LLC, and )
AARON DONALD VALLETT, )
Respondents. )

SUMMARY ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST ALL
SECURITIES AND INSURANCE ACTIVITY

This Order issues as the result of a Petition, and its Exhibits attached hereto, filed by the
Tennessee Securities Division (“TSD”) and the Tennessee Insurance Division (“TID”)
(collectively the “Divisions”) of the Department of Commerce and Insurance (“Department”).

This Order is predicated upon the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Title 48 of the Tennessee Code A.antated, the Tenﬁessee Securities Act (the
“Act”), aa amended, TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 48-2-101, et seqg. places the responsibility for the
administration of the Act on the Commissioner. The TSD is the lawful agent through which the
Commissioner discharges this resp@nsibﬂitsf. TENN. CODE ANN. § 48-2-112 and § 48-2-115.

2. Title 56 of the Tennessee Code Annotated, the Tennessee Insurance Law (the

“Law’), TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 56-1-101 ef seq., places the responsibility of the administration of



the Law on the Commissioner. The TID is the lawful agent through which the Commissioner
; discharges this responsibility. TENN. CODE ANN, § 56-1-202 and § 56-6-112.

3. " The Divisions are authorized to bring this action based on a finding by the
Commissioner that the action is in the public interest, necessary for the protection of investors
and consistent with the purposes fairly intended by the policy and provisions of the Act and the
Law. TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 4-5-320(c), 48-2-116(e)(2)(A) and 56-2-304.

4, Respondent A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC (“Vallett & Co.”) (CRD # 144065) is a
Tennessee limited liability company with its principal place of business located at 5141 Virginia
Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027. Vallett & Co. is currently registered as an investment
adviser with the TSD and has been so registered since June 19, 2008.

5. Respondent A.D. Vallett & Company (“A.D. Vallett & Company”) (CRD #
144271) is a doing-business-as designation used by Vallett for A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC and
likewise its principal place of business is located at 5141 Virginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood,
TN 37027.

6. Respondent A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund I, LLC (*Collateral Fund I”) is a
Delaware limited liability company, as of June 3, 2010, with its registered office located at 1201
Orange Stfeet, Suite 600, Wilmington, DE 19801 and its principal place of business located at
5141 Virginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027. Collateral Fund [ is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Vallett & Co.

7. Respondent A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund 1I, LLC (“Collateral Fund II”)V is a
- Delaware limited liability company, as of June 3, 2010, with its registered office located at 1201

Orange Street, Suite 600, Wilmington, DE 19801 and its principal place of business located at



5141 Virginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027. Collateral Fund II is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Vallett & Co.

8. Respondent A.D. Vallett Income and Obpommity Fund I, LLC (“1&0 Fund™) is a
Delaware limited liability company, as of February 12, 2010, with its principal place of business
located at 5141 Virginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027. 1&O Fund is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Vallett & Co. |

9. Respondent Aaron Donald Vallett (“Vallett”) (CRD # 4421 122) is a citizen and
resident of Davidson County Tennessee, residing at 1714 Temple Avenue, Nashville, TN 37215.
Vallett is a licensed insurance producer (Liéense # 857611) in the State of Tennessee. Vallett is
currently registered with the TSD as dﬂ investment adviser representative through his associated
investment adviser, Vallett & Co., and at all relevant times, until June 11, 2010, he was
registeredv with the TSD as a broker-dealer agent through his associated broker-dealer,
Institutional Capital Management, Inc. (“ICM”) (CRD # 41055).

10. At all relevant times, Vallett conducted business through his companies,
Respondent Vallett & Co., Respondent A.D. Vallett & Company, Respondent Collateral Fund I,
Respondent Collateral Fund II, and Respondent 1&O Fund. Vallett is the sole owner of Vallett &
Co. and A.D. Vallett & Company, and also created and owns Collateral Fund I, Collateral Fund
II, and 1&O Fund.

11. On June 16, 2008, Vallett entered into a Consent Order with the Commissioner
whereby he agreed to fully comply with the Act and to be suspended from acting as a broker-
dealer agent or investment adviser representative from or in the State of Tennessee for a four-

month period beginning on June 16, 2008 and ending October 15, 2008. (Exhibit 1).
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12, During the suspension period covered by the Consent Order, from July 16, 2008
through October 6, 2008, Vallett executed no fewer than eight (&) separate investment advisory
agreements as President of Vallett & Co. which required the company and Vallett to provide
investment advisory services and assessed a one percent (1%) annual fee based on the market
value of the client’s account. (Exhibit 2). Attached hereto as exhibits to this Petition are three
(3) of the investment advisory agreements that Vallett executed dui‘ing his suspension period:
one dated July 17, 2008 (Exhibit 3); one dated August 1, 2008 (Exhibit 4); aﬁd one dated
October 6, 2008 (Exhibit 5).

13. Between January 2008 and April 2010, Vallett ra.ised approximately $5.5 million
from approximately twenty (20) investors through three (3) unregistered securities offerings:
Collateral Fund 1, Collateral Fund 11, and the 1&0O Fund (collectively, the “‘Funds”’). (Exhibit 2).

14.  From January 2008 through February 2010, Vallett offered and sold investments
in Collateral Fund I, eventually raising approximately $1.5 million from eighteen (18) investors,
many of whom were investment advisory clients of Vallett and Vallett & Co. (Exhibit 2).

15. The interests sold in Collateral Fund I were not registered with the TSD for sale
within the State of Tennessee (Exhibit 6), and despite representations made in the private
placement memorandum (“PPM”) for the Fund, and by Vallett to investors, that the trahsactions
were exempted from federal and state securities registration requirements under Securities and
‘Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 504 of Regulation D, 17 C.F.R. § 230.504, and TENN,
CODE ANN. § 48-2-125, the transactions were not so exempted because Tennessee does not
‘recognize the Rule 504 exemption and even if it did Vallett did not file the necessary documents

with the SEC and the TSD. (Exhibit 6). In addition, Cclla{eml Fund I, LLC did not legally exist



until Sfuﬁe 3, 2010 and therefore could not have been registered with the SEC or the TSD at the
time that interests in the Co}laieral Fund I were sold. (Exhibit 6).

16. The PPM for Collaterél Fund I misrepresented the following: that investors would
rec’eive “secured notes” in return for their investments, the collateral being the personal assets of
Vallett and his affiliated entities; that Vallett and his affiliated entities guaranteed the payments
required under the secured notes; and that investor funds would be used to make various
investments selected by Vallett, including real estate investments. (Exhibit 2).

17.  Vallett failed to adequately disclose how invested funds would be used. Vallett,
through the PPM, told investors that they would receive secured notes, guaremteéd by Vallett’s
assets and the assets of his various business entities, in return for their investments and that
investor money would be used to fund various investments, including real estate ventures.
(Exhibit 2). Brokerage statements obtained from Vallett show, however, that instead Vallett
engaged in high-risk, speculative trading with investor funds. (Exhibit 2).

I8. Vallett defrauded investors by representing the offerings of the Funds as private
placements exempted from any state securities registration requirements under SEC Rules 504 or
506 of Regulation D, 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.504, 230.506. (Exhibit 6). Vallett failed to make the
necessary filings with the SEC to qualify for the Rule 504 or Rule 506 exemption, and likewise
failed to make the requisite notice filings with the TSD as required by TENN. CODE ANN. § 48-2-
125(b) in order to exempt the securities from state registration. (Exhibit 6). As stated
previously, Tennessee does not recognize the Rule 504 exemption and in addition, Collateral

Fund T did not legally exist at the time that interests in it were sold. Collateral Fund T did not

legally exist until June 3, 2010. (Exhibit 6).



19. On April 14, 2010, two of Vallett’s investment advisory clients discovered that in
2008 Vallett had liquidated some of the holdings in their investment accounts and invested the
proceeds into an investment called Collateral Fund I (an investment created and wholly owned
by Vallett), without their knowledge or consent. (Exhibits 2, 3). In addition, Vallett did not
provide his clients with any offering materials or tell them abouf the liquidation and transfer of
assets to Collateral Fund I at any time after making the investment. (Exhibit 3). On April 14,
2010, Vallett’s clients received an Internal Revenue Service Interest Income 1099 form from
Valief & Co. that indicated that they were receiving interest income from an invéstment in
Coﬂé.teral Fund . (Exhibit 3). Vallett’s clients did not know anything about this investment.
(Exhibit 3). Prior to receiving this 1099 form they had never heard ofthe Collateral Fund I; had
no knowledge of investing in such a fund and to their knowledge had never received any interest .
payménts from the fund. (Exhibit 3).

20.  In August 2009, Vallet fraudulently cashed out an annuity, held by two (2) of his
investmént advisory clients (Ms. Salter N. Rackley (“Rackley”) and her husband, William R.
Rackley) as joint policyholders, without their knowledge or consent and without disclosing to his
clients that there would be an early ‘[ten'hination fee charged. (Exhibit 3). The signature used to
make the redemption and appearing on page two (2) of the Withdrawal Request Form for
Annuity Contract # 70428616 (attached as Exhibit B to Exhibit 3) is not Rackley’s signature.
(Exhibit 3). Rackley does not know who signed her name and she did not grant permission for
anyone to sign her name on her behalf. (Exhibit 3). |

21. At the time of full surrender, the annuity from Allianz Life Insurahce Company of
North America was valued at five hundred seven thousand seven hundred and seven dollars

($507,707.00). (Exhibit 3).  Thirty one thousand eighty two dollars ($31,082.00) was paid as



an early termination fee for cashing out the annuity prior to the maturity date. (Exhibit 3).
Rackley does not know what happened to the balance of the proceeds or four hundred seventy-
six thousand six hundred and twenty-five dollars ($476,625) on or about September 3, 2009,
however, seven ( 7‘) months later on April .13, 2010, Rackley contacted Vallett and asked for her
money. On April 14, 2010, Vallett wire transferred two hundred fifty thousand dollars
-(§250,000) to the Rackleys’ personal bank account, and on April 14, 2010, Vaﬁet’c deposited one
hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) into Mr. Rackley’s brokerage account (to cover a margin
balance before the account was transferred to a new broker). The balance of the annuity
proceeds, one hundred twenty-six thousand six hundred twenty-five dollars ($126,625) is still
unaccounted for as of the date of this petition.

22. On June 9, 2010, the Honorable William Hayﬁes of the Middle District of
Tennessee entered an Order permanently enjoining Respondents from violations of Section 17(a)
of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule
10b-5 promulgated thereunder; and Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Aét
of 1940. (Exhibit 2).

23. On June 23, 2010, Vallett formed three (3) new entities and registered them for
business with the Tennessee Secretary of State Division of Business Services. (Exhibit 2). The
three entities, Axtell Business Solutions, Inc., Axtell Payroll Services, Inc., and Axtell
Retirement Services, Inc. were all formed on June 23, 2010. (Exhibit 2). Shortly thereafter,
Vallett created a new website for Axtell Business Solutions, Inc. at www.axtellonline.com.
(Exhibit 2). This new website is nearly identical to Vallett & Co.’s business Wehsitej still located

at www.advallett.com (Exhibit 2); however, it does not mention Vallett or any of his other



business entities by name. (Exhibit 2). Both websites encourage customers to contact the site’s

owner at 5141 Virginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027, Vallett’s address. (Exhibit 2).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A.D. Vallett’s Ongoing Unlawful Conduct Warrants the Summary Suspension of All of
Respondents’ Licenses and Registrations

1. The facts as stated above demonstrate that shortly following the entry o»f a
permanent injunction by the SEC, Vallett formed three (3) new entities and registered them for
business with the Tennessee Secretary of State Division of Business Services. The website for
these entities is nearly identical to Vallett & Co.’s business website; however, it does not
mention Vallett or any of his other business entities by name. Both websites encourage
customérs to contact the site’s owner at 5141 Virginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027,
Vallett’s address. |

2. The Commissioner finds that the Divisions are authorized to bring this action as
that the action is in the fyubhc interest, necessary for the protection of investors and consistent
with the purposes fairly intended by the policy and provisioﬂs of the Act and the Law. TENN.
CODE ANN, §§ 4-5—32@(8)5 48-2-116(e)(2)(A) and 56-2-304. Resﬁondents’ continued unlawful
conduct necessitates a summary suspension of all of Respondents’ registrations and licenses with

the Department, pending a forthcoming administrative action seeking revocation of those

registrations and licenses.

A.D. Vallett Violated the June 16, 2008 Consent Order with the Tennessee Securities Division
3. The facts as stated above demonstrate that Vallett executed no fewer than eight
(8) separate investment advisory agreements as President of Vallett & Co. while he was serving

an agreed suspension from providing investment advisory services and other related services.



This conduct was in directy‘vio]ation of the June 16, 2008 Consent Order with the Tennessee
Securities Division

4, Vallett’s willful violations of the June 16, 2008 Conserit Order with the Securities
Division provides aéequate grounds under TENN. CODE ANN. § 48-2-112(a)(2)(B) for the entry
of an Order summarily suspending respondents’ registrations with the TSD.

5. Vallett’s willful violations of the June 16, 2008 Consent Order with the Securities
Division demonstrates incompetence, untrustworthiness, and financial irresponsibility in the
cohduct of business in this state and provides adequate grounds under TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 56-

6-112(a)(8) for the entry of an Order summarily suspending Vallett’s insurance producer license.

A.D. Vallett Sold Unregistered Securities

6. The facts as stated demonstrate that Vallett offered to sell and sold securities
which were 110£ registered with the TSD. It is’ unléwful to sell any security in this state unless it
is registered under TENN. CODE AN\ §§ 48-2-101 et seq., or the transaction is exempted under
§ 48-2-103, or it is a covered security. The investment contracts offered were not registered with
TSD, and were not exempted by statute and are not covered securities.

7. Vallett’s sales of unregistered securities provide adequate grounds under TENN,
CODE ANN. § 48-2-112(a)(2)(B) for the entry of an Order summarily suspending respondents’
registrations with the TSD.

8. Vallett’s sale of unregistered securities demonstrates incompetence,
untmstwoﬁhiness, and financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in this state and
provides adequate grounds under TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 56-6-112(a)(8) for the entry of an Order

summarily suspending Vallett’s insurance producer license.



A.D. Vallett and Vallett & Co. Engaged in Securities Fraud

9. The facts as stated demonstrate that Vallett fraudulently misrepresented the
investments he was selling, failed to adequately disclose how invested funds would be used, and
defrauded investors by misrepresenting the offerings of the Funds as private placements
exempted from any state securities registration requirements under SEC Rules 504 or 506 of
Regulation D, 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.504, 230.506.

10.  Each of Vallett’s fraudulent acts provides adequate grounds under TENN. CODE
ANN. §. 48-2-112(a)(2)(B) for the entry of an Order summarily suspending Respondents’
registrations with the TSD.

11. Each of Vallett’s fraudulent acts demonstrates incomp’etence, untrustworthiness,
and financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in this state and provides adequate
grounds under TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 56-6-112(a)(8) for the entry of an Order summarily
suspending Vallett’s insurance producer license.

A.D. Vallett Unlawfully Forged his clients’ Names to a Document Related fo an Insurance
Transaction

12.  The facts as stated demonstrate that Vallett fraudulently cashed out an annuity,
held by two (2) of his investment advisory clients {Rgckiey and her husband, William R.
Rackley) as joint policyholders‘. Vallett forged the Rackleys signatures, redeemed their annuity
without their knowledge or consent, without obtaining a valid signature from Rackley and
without disclosing to his clients that there would be an early termination fee charged.

13. Vallett’s forgery and fraudulent redemption of the Rackleys’ annuity provide
adequate grounds under TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 56-6-112(a)(10) for the entry of an Order

summarily suspending Vallett’s insurance producer license.
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ORDER
NOW, THEREFORE, in considération of the forégoing, it is ORDERED that:

I. Respondents A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC, A.D. Vallett Cbllateral Fund I, A.D.
Vallett Collateral Fund 11, A.D. Vallett Income and Opportunity Fund I, LLC, and Aaron Donald
Vallett shall fully comply with the Act, the Law, and all rules promulgated thereunder; |

2. Respondent Aaron Donald Vallett shall CEASE and DESIST in any further
conduct as a broker-dealer, agent of a broker-dealer, investment adviser, or investment adviser
representative from or in the State of Tennessee, beginning on the date this Order is executed by
the Commissioner for the Department of Commerce and Insurance.

3. Respondent Aaron Donald Vallett shall CEASE and DESIST in conducting
securities transactions on behalf of others from, in, or into the State of Tennessee, beginning on
the date this Order is executed by the Commissioner for the Department of Commerce’and
Insurance. |

4. Respondent A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC shall CEASE and DESIST in any further
conduct as an investment adviser from or in the State of Tennessee, beginning on the date this
Order 1s executed by the Commissioner for the Department of Commerce and Insurance.

5. Respondent Aaron Donald Vallett shall CEASE and DESIST in any further
conduct as an insurance producer from or in the State of Tennessee, beginning on the date this
Order is executed by the Commuissioner for the Department of Commerce and Insurance.

6. All persons in any way assisting, aiding, or helping the aforementioned
Respondent in any of the aforemeﬁtioned violations of the Tennessee Securities Act of 1980, as

amended, TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 48-2-101 er seq. or the Tennessee Insurance Law, TENN. CODE

11



ANN. §§ 56-1-101 et seq., shall CEASE AND DESIST all such activities in violation of the

Tennessee Securities Act of 1980, as amended.

7. This Order is not intended to prohibit any lawful conduct in which Respondents
might be engaged.
g. Entry of this Order shall not in any way restrict the Tennessee Securities Division,

the Tennessee Insurance Divi#ion or the Commissioner of the Tennessee Department of
Commerce and Insurance from taking further action with respect to these or other possible
violations of the Act or any of the Rules promulgated thereunder by Respondents.

9. You are advised that you have the right to an informal hearing before the agency
within seven (7) gusiness days of the‘ issuance of this Order of summary suspension. The sole
issue to be considered is whether the public health, safety or welfare imperatively required
emergency action by the agency. If you wish to exercise your right to this informal hearing,

please notify:

LARRY C. KNIGHT
ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FOR INSURANCE
STATE OF TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
DAVY CROCKETT TOWER
500 JAMES ROBERTSON PARKWAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243

AND

DAPHNE D. SMITH
ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FOR SECURITIES v
STATE OF TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
DAVY CROCKETT TOWER
500 JAMES ROBERTSON PARKWAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243

10. Such request must be received within seven (7) business days of the date of entry

of this Order.



11. You are advised that you have the right to a hearing as to all matters raised in this
Order. If you wish to exercise your right to a hearing, please notify:

LARRY C. KNIGHT
ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FOR INSURANCE
STATE OF TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
DAVY CROCKETT TOWER
500 JAMES ROBERTSON PARKWAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243

AND
DAPHNE D. SMITH
ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FOR SECURITIES
STATE OF TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
DAVY CROCKETT TOWER
500 JAMES ROBERTSON PARKWAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243
12. Such request must be received within thirty (30) days of the date of entry of this
Order. This Order shall become a Final Order thirty (30) days from the date of its entry, unless

written notification requesting a hearing is made within that thirty (30) day period.

Entered this  2¢ e day of _&M@QOIO.

Liikes b V\tparnns v

Leslie A. Newman,
Commissioner

APPROVED FOR EN

R e, e
/bwf il . - / M )

Larry C.Knight ¢ e aphne’D. Smith

Assistant Commissioner_for Insurance Assistant Commissioner for Securities

Department of Commerce and Insurance Department of Commerce and Insurance
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ISSUANCE REQUESTED BY:

MMM o

Barbara A. Doak (BPR# 015802)

Chief Counsel

Department of Commerce and Insurance
Office of Legal Counsel

500 James Robertson Parkway, 2nd Floor

Nashville, Tennessee 37243
(615) 741-2199/Fax (615) 741-4000
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Matthew
Assistant General Counsel ,
Department of Commerce and Insurance
Office of Legal Counsel

500 James Robertson Parkway, 2nd Floor
Nashville, Tennessee 37243

(615) 741-2199/Fax (615) 741-4000
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STATE OF TENNESSEE

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
500 JAMES ROBERTSON PARKWAY
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37243-5065

615-741-6007
PHIL BREDESEN LESLIE A. NEWMAN
GOVERNOR COMMISSIONER

|, Leslie A. Newman, Commissioner of Commerce and Insurance of the State of
Tennessee, pursuant to Tenn.Code Ann. § 56-1-604, do hereby certify that the attached
are true and correct copies of the following:

o Consent Order in the matter of A.D. Vallett & Co., Aaron Donald Vallett.

In Witness Whereof, | have hereunto
subscribed my hand and affixed my
official Seal, at Nashville, Tennessee
this 7*day of _loafimbiu
20/ 0. I

Lesiie A. Newman
Commissioner of Commerce and
Insurance

Official Seal



BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
FOR THE STATE OF TENNESSEE

TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION,
Petitioner

Vs,

A.D. VALLETT & COMPANY, LLC,
AARON DONALD VALLETT

)
) |
y
) Order No.  08-003
)
)
)
Respondents. )

CONSENT ORDER

The Tennessee Securities Division ("TSD"), Petitioner and A.D. Vallett & Company,
LLC (“ADV&C”) and Aaron Donald Vallett (“Vallett”), Respondents, agree to theent’ry of
this Consent Order in accordance with T.C.A. § 48-2-116 of the Tennessee Securities Act
of 1080, as amended, T.C.A. § 48-2-101, st saq. (‘Act’), which states that the
Commissioner of Commerce and Insurance (“Commissioner”) from time‘to time may make

such orders as are necessary to carry out the provisions of the Act.

GENERAL STIPULATIONS

1, It is expressly understood that this Consent Order is subject to the
Commissioner's acceptance and has no force and effect until such acceptance is

evidenced by the entry of the Commissioner.
2. This Consent Order is execuied by the Respondents for the purpose of
avoiding further administrative action with respect to this cause. Furthermore, should this:

Consent Order not be accepted by the Commissioner, it is agreed that presentation to and



consideration of this Consent Order by the Commissioner shall not unfairly or illegally
prejudice the Commissioner from furthef parﬁcipation or resolution of these proceedings.

3. | Respondehts fully understand that this Cohsenf Ordg‘r will in no way preclude
additional proceedings by the Commissioner against the Respondenﬁs for acts or
omi‘ssions not specifically addressed in this Consent Order for facts and/or omissions that
do not arise from the facts or transactions herein addressed.

4, | ‘Respondents fully understand that this Consent Order will in no way preciude
additional proceedings by the Commissioner of Commerce and Insurance or any other
state government representative against the Respondenfs for violations of law under other
statuteys, rules, or regulations of the State of Tennessee, which may arise out of the facts,
acts, or omissions. contained in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law stated herein,
or which may arise as a result of the execution of this Consent Order by the Respondents.

5. Respondents expressly waive all further procedural steps, and expressly
waive all rights to seek judicial review of or to otherwise challenge or contest the validity of
the Consent Order, the stipulations and imposition of discipline contained herein, and the
consideration and entry of said Consent Order by the Commissioner.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The Tennessee Securities Act of 1980, as amended, T.C.A. § 48-2-101, et |
seq. (“Act”), places the responsibility for the administration of {he Acton the Commissioner
of Commerce and Insurance (“Commissioner”). The TSD is the lawful agent through which
the Commissioner discharges this responsibility. T.C.A. § 48-2-115.

2. Respondent, A.D. Vallett & Company, LLC ("ADV&C") is a Tennessee limited



liability company that is cu;‘rentéy seeking investment adviser registration with the TSD.
The firm is Ioca’;éd at 5141 Virginia Way, # 460, Brentwood, TN 37027,

3. Respondent, Aaron Donald Vallett, (“Vallett") (CRD# 4421122) is a citizen
and resident of Davidson County, Tennessee. Vallett is cUrrant}iy seeking investment
’adviser repfeséntative registration with the TSD. He maintains his address af 1714 Temple
Avenue, Nashville, TN 37215. Vallettis currently registered with and employed by Synergy
Investment Group, LLC (“SIG") (CRD # 46035), located at 8320 University Executive Park
Drive, Charlottle, NC 28262, Vallett is a former agent of Cambridge Way, Inc., ("CWI")
(CRD # 16328) and at all times pertinent to the matters addressed in this Consent Order
Vallett was a registered agent of either CWi or SIG.

4, On June 21, 2007, Vallett and ADV&C filed for investment adviser and
investment adviser representative registrations with the TSD. The filings listed Vallett as
the owner of ADV&C. |

5. In connection with the filing for investment adviser and investment adviser
representative registrations, Vallett disclosed information regarding a pending regulatory
action by the Financial industry Regulatory Authority (‘FINRA”) against him, which included
a four (4) month suspension from association in any capacity with any FINRA member firm
and a monetary fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000}.

8. FINRA is a self-regulatory organization, registered with the Securities and

- Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1834,

7. On May 7, 2008, Vallett executed an Acceptance, Waiver and Consent (No.

2006005754402), specifying the above referenced sanctions, which was fully exscuted and



accepted by FINRA on May 21, 2008, thereby making it binding on the parties.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

8. Pursuant to T.C.A. §48-2-115(a), the responsibility for administration of
the Act is upon the Commissioner. The TSD is the lawful agent throuéh which the
Commissioner c;ischarges this responsibiﬁty.‘

9. T.C.A. §48-2-1 ?Z(a)(f) and (2)(F)(ii) states that the commissioner may by
order deny, suspend, or revoke any registration underthés part if she finds that the orderis
in the public interest and necessary for the protection of investors; and the applicant or
registrant or, in the case of a broker—deaiér or investment adviser, any affiliate, partner,
officer, director, or any person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions is
the subject of an order suspending or expelling suchrperéon from a national securities
exchange or national securities association registered under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1834, as amended.

10,  The averments in paragraphs one — seven of this Consent Order, constitute
practices by Aaron Donald Vallett which would provide grounds under T.C.A. § 48-2-
1 12(3}(1)‘ and (2)(F)(ii) for the entry of an order of sanctions.

ORDER

NOW, THEREFORE, on the basis of the foregoing; and Respondents’ waiver of
their right to a hearing and appeal under the Tennessee Securities Act and Tennessee's
Uniform Administrative Procedures Act, TC.A‘ § 4-5-101 et seq., and Respondents’
admission of jurisdiction of the Commissioner, the Commissioner finds that Respondents,

for the purpose of settling this matter, admit the matters herein, have agreed to the entry of



this Order and that the following Order is appropriate, in the public interest and necessary
for the protection of investors. | | |

IT1S ORDERED, pursuant té T.C.A §48-2-116(a) of the Tennessee Secu riﬁés Act
that:

1. Respondents, A.D. Vallett &‘Company, LLC and Aaron Donald \/aﬂe’ct, ARE |
' ORDERED TO AND AGREE to fully comply with the Tennesses Securities Act, as
amended, and all rules promulgated thereunder, |

2. Respondent, Aaron Donald Vallett, IS ORDERED AND AGREES to fully
comply with all of the terms and conditions contained in the Acceptance, Waiver and
Consent issued by FINRA on May 21, 2008;

3. Re&pondeqt, Aaron Donald Vallett, IS ORDERED AND AGREES to
armend form U-4 andlor U-5, pursuant to the instructions of said forms and as required
by FINRA, and file the appropriate Disclosure Reporting‘Page to disclese the details of
this action;

4, The investment adviser represetni“ative application for Respondent, Aaron
Donald Vallett, is hereby granted, but shall be suspended as to any conduct as an
investment adviser representative from or in the state of Tennessee, for a term fo be
sérved concurrently with the FINRA suspension and is to be commenced on June 16, 2008
and ended on October 15, 2008;

5. Respondent, Aaron Donald Valleit, shall be suspended from any further

conduct as an agent of a broker-dealer or investment adviser representative for SIG from



or in the state of Tennessee, for a term to be served concurrently with the FINRA
‘suspensioyn ahd is to be'commenced on June 16, 2008 and ended on October 15, 2008; |

8. Respondent, Aaron Donald Vallett, shall make a contribution to the investor
Education Fund in the émouht of one théusand and five hundred dollars ($1,50&OO). Said -
sum shall be due and payable in full upon execution of this document, butin no event later
than June 30, 2008. Payment, in the form of a check made payable to the Tennessee
Department of Commerce and Insurance ~ Investor Education Fund, Secdrifies

Division, shall be malled to:

State of Tennessee
Department of Commerce and fnsuranc-ﬁ
Securities Division
Attention: Broker-Dealer Regi stratzon Sectfon
500 James Robertson Parkway, 8" Fioor, DCT
Nashville, Tennessee 37243.

7. Respondents hereby AGREE that failure to comply with all the requirements
and prohibitions contained in this Order shall result in further enforcement action by the
TSD, the Department of Commerce and Insurance, and/or the State of Tennessee in order
to enforce the provisions contained herein.

IT IS ORDERED that this Order raDresenfS the compiete and final r&soim ion of, and
discharge with respect to all administrative and civil, claims, demands, actions and causes

of acﬁoh by the Commissioner against A.D, Valiett & Company, LLC, and Aaron Donald

Vallett for viclations of the Act alleged by the TSD to have cccurred with respect to the

facts contained herein.



This Cdnsent Order is in the public interest and in the best interests of the parties,
andrepresené a compromise and setﬂement of the oon?roversy between tkhe pafties andis
for settlement purposeé only. By the signatures affixed below, A.D. Vallett & Comp‘ény,
LLC, and Aaron Donald Vallett, affirmatively state that they have freely ag'reed' to the entry
of this Conhsent Order, that they walive the right to‘ a hearing on the matters unde riyihg th'is

~Consem Order and to a review of the Findings of Fact and Conc}dsions of Law contained
here%n,v and that no threats or promises of any kind have been made by the Commissionst,
the TSD, or any agent or representative thereof. The parties, by signing this Consent
érder, affirmatively state their agreement to be bound by the terms of this Consent Order
~ and aver that no promises or offers relating to the circumstancés described herein, other

than the terms of setﬂement set forth in this Consent Order, are binding upon them.

ENTERED this /b day of (/M 2008,

Leslie A. Newman, Commissioner.
Department of Commerce and Insurance

APPROVED FOR ENTRY:

ot ), S FHo

Daphk D. Smith,
Assistant Commissioner for Securities
Department of Commerce and Insurance
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Karon Donald Vallett
Respondent
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David Zager #5291

Attorney at Law

Suite 2909, Renaissance Tower
811 Commerce Sireet
Nashville, TN 37203

(6815) 242-2090

Barbara A. Doak (#0158072)

- Asst. General Counsel-Securifies Division

Department of Commerce and Insurance
500 James Robertson Parkway, 12" Floor
Nashville, TN 37243

(615) 741-2129
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BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
FOR THE STATE OF TENNESSEE

, TID Order No.: 10-046
A.D. VALLETT & CO., LLC, ‘
A.D. VALLETT & COMPANY, :
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND I, LLC, )
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND II, LLC,)
A.D. VALLETT INCOME & OPPORTUNITY )

TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION, )

TENNESSEE INSURANCE DIVISION, )
Petitioners. : ) Docket # 12.06-108775J

' )
Vs, ) TSD Order No.: 10-008

)

)

)

FUND I, LLC, and )

AARON DONALD VALLETT, )

Respondents. )
AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF TENNESSEE )
| )
COUNTY OF DAVIDSON )

I, APRIL POCCHIARI, HAVING BEEN DULY SWORN, DEPOSE AND SAY AS
FOLLOWS: '

[. I am employed as a Securities Examiner and Investigator with the Enforcement
Section of the Tennessee Securities Division (“TSD”), Tennessee Department of Commerce and
Insurance.

1. As a Securities Examiner and Investigator with the Enforcement Section, I am
responsible for the investigation of complaints of alleged violations of the Tennessee Securities Act

of 1980, as amended (the Act).

2. On December 15, 2009, the TSD received a complaint (Complaint 2009-0090)

1



alleging the unlawful sale of ’unregistered securities by Aaron Donald Vallett (“Vallett™) (CRD #
4421122). Vallett is a citizen and resident of Davidson County Tennessee, residing at 1714 Temple
Avenue, Nashville, TN 372 15. Vallettis currently registered with the TSD as an investment adviser
representati;fe through his associated investment adviser, Vallett &’Co. Until June 11,2010, Vallett
was registered with the TSD as a broker-dealer agent through his associated broker-dealer,
Institutional Capital Management, Inc. (“ICM”) (CRD # 41055).

3. The TSD prepared a conﬁplaint-preliminaxy memorandum based on Complaint 2009-
0090 requesting that an investigation be opened. On January 7, 2010, the Assistant Cozﬁmissioner
for Securities entered an Order of Investigation in this matter (SI-2010-003).

4, Pursuant to thevTSD’s investigation, the TSD conducted an on-site examination of
A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC (“Vallett & Co.”) (CRD # 144065) beginning on April 5, 2010 and
concluding on April 7, 2010. Valiett & Co. is a Tennessee limited liability company with its
principal place of business located at 5141 V ii‘ginia Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027. Vallett
& Co. is currently registered as an investment adviser with the TSD and has been so registered since
June 19, 2008.

5. The TSD investigation revealed that on Tune 16, 2008, Vallett entered into a Consent
Order with the Commissioner whereby he agreed to fully comply with the Act and to refrain from
acting as a broker-dealer agent or investment adviser representative from or in the State of Tennessee
for a four-month period beginning on June 16, 2008 and ending October 15, 2008. (Exhibit 1).

0. | The TSD investigation revealed that during the suspension period covered by the
Consent Order, from July 16, 2008 through October 6, 2008, Vallett executed no fewer than eight (8)

separate investment advisory agreements as President of Vallett & Co. which required the company



and Vallett to provide investmeni adv.i}sory services and assessed a one percent (1%) annual feekbased
on the market value of the client’s account. Attached hereto as exhibits to the Petition are three (3)
ofthe investment advisory agreements that Vallett executed during his suspension peﬁod: one dated
July 17, 2008 (Exhibit 3); oné dated August 1, 2008 (Exhibit 4); and one dated October 6, 2008
(Exhibit 5). |

7. The TSD investigation revealed that between January 2008 and April 2010, Vallett
raised approximately $5.5 million from approximately twenty (20) investors through three (3)
unregistered offerings: Collateral Fund I, Collateral Fund II, and the I&O Fund (collectively, the
“Funds™). From J’aﬁuary 2008 through February 2010, Vallett offered and sold investments in
Collateral Fund I, eventually raising approximately $1.5 million from eighteen (18) investors, many
of whom were advisory clients of Vallett & Co. |

8. The TSD investigation revealed that the interests sold in Collateral Fund I were not
registefed with the TSD for sale within the State of ’fennessee (Exhibit 6), and despite
representations made in the private placement memorandum (“PPM”) for the Fund, and by Vallett to
investors, that the transactions were exempted from federal and state registration requirements under
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 504 of Regulation D, 17 C.F.R. § 230.504, and
TENN. CODE ANN, § 48-2-125, the transactions were not so exempted because Tennessee does not
recognize the Rule 504 exemption and even if it did Vallett did not file the necessary documents with
the SEC and the TSD. ‘(Exhibit 6). In addition, Collateral Fund I, LLC did not legally exist until
June 3, 2010 and therefore could not have been registered with the SEC or the TSD at the time that
interests in the Collateral Fund I were sold. (Exhibit 6). |

9. I'he PPM for Collateral Fund [ misrepresented the following: that investors would



receive “secured notes” in return for their investments, the collaterai being the personal assets of

- Vallett and his affiliated entities; that Vallett and his éfﬁliated entities guaranteed the payments
required under the secured notes; and that investor funds would be used to make various investments
selected by Vallett, including real estaté investments.

10. V’v’ayllett failed to adequately disclose hbw invested funds would be used. Vallett,
through the PPM, told investors that they would receive secured notes, guaranteed by Vallett’s assets
and the asseté ofhis various business entities, fn return for their investments and that investor money
would be used to fund various investments, including real estate ventures. Brokerage statements

obtained from Vallett show, however, that instead Vallett engaged in high-risk, speculative trading
with investor funds.

11. Vallett defrauded investors by representing the offerings of the Funds as private
placements exempted from any registration requirements under SEC Rules 504 or 506 of Regulation
D, 17C.FR. §§230.504, 230.506. (Exhibit 6). Vallett failed to make the necessary filings with the
SEC to qualify for the Rule 504 or Rule 506kexemption, and likewise failed to makg: the requisite
notice filings with the TSD as required by TENN. CODE ANN. § 48-2-125(b) in order to exempt the
securities from state registration. (Exhibit 6). As stated previousEy,' Tennessee does not recognize
the Rule 504 exemption and in addition, Collateral Fund [ did not legally exist at the time that
interests in them were sold. Collateral Fund I did not legally exist until June 3, 2010.‘ (Exhibit 6).

12. The TSD investigation revealed that on April 14, 2010, two of Vallett’s investment
advisory clients discovered that in 2008 Vallett had liquidated some of the holdings in their
investment accounts and invested the proceeds into an investment called Collateral Fund I (an

investment created and wholly owned by Vallett),, without their knowledge or consent. (Exhibit 3).



In addition, Vallett did not provide hus clients with any offering materials or tell them about the
liquidation and transfer of assets to Collateral Fund 1 at any time after making the investment.
(Exhibit 3). On April 14, 2010, Vallett’s clients received an Internal Revenue Service Interest
Income 1099 form from Vallet & Co. thét indicated that they were receiving interest income from an
investment in Collateral Fund 1. (Exhibit 3}. Val]ett’s‘ clients did not know anything about this
investment. (Exhibit 3). Prior to receiving this 1099 form they had never heard of the Collateral
Fund [, had no knowledge of investing in such a fund and to their knowledge had never received any
interest payments froin the fund. (Exhibit 3).

13, The TSD investigation revealed that in August 2009, Vallet fraudulently cashed out
an annuity, held by two (2) of his investment advisory clients (Ms. Salter N. Rackley (“Rackley”)
and her husband, William R. Rackley) as joint policyholders, without their knowledge or consenkt and

without disclosing to his clients that there would be an early termination fee charged. (Exhibit 3).
The signature used to make thé redemption and appearing on page tw§ (2) of the Withdrawal |
Request Form for Annuity Confract # 70428616 (attached as Exhibit B to Exhibit 3) is not Rackley’s
signature. (Exhibit 3). Rackley does not know who signed her name and she did not grant
permission for anyone to sign her name on her behalf. (Exhibit 3).

14, At the time of full surrender, the annuity from Allianz Life Insurance Company of
North America was valued at five hundred seven thousand seven hundred and seven dollars
($507,707.00). (Exhibit 3). Thirty one thousand eighty two dollars (§31,082.00) was pai‘d as an
early termination fee for cashing out thé annuity prior to the maturity date. (Exhibit 3). Rackley
does not know what happened to the balance of the proceeds or ’fbﬁr hundred seventy-six thousand

~
3

six hundred and twenty-five dollars ($476,625) on or about September 3, 2009; however, on April

n



13, 2010, Rackley contacted Vallett and asked for her money.

15.  The TSD investigation revealed that on April 14, 2010, Vallett wire transferred two
hundred fifty théusand dollars ($2503000) to the Rackleys’ personal bank account;and on April 14,
2010, Vallett deposited one hundred thousand dollaré ($100,000) into Mr. Rack]ey’s brokerage
account (to cover a margin balaﬁce before the account was transferred to a new broker). The balance
of the annuity prJoceeds, one hundred twenty-six thousand six hundred twenty-five dollars ($126,625)
is still unaccounted for as of the date of this affidavit. |

16. The TSD invésti gation revealed that Vallett is s;dﬂ Working in the insurance and
securities businesses. The TSD investigatioﬁ revealed that on June 9, 2010, the Honorable William
Haynes of the Middle District of Tennessee entered an Order peﬁnanenﬂy enjoining Respondents
from violations of Section 17(a) of thekSeourities Act of 1933, Section 10(b) of the‘ Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder; and Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of |
the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, (Exhibit A).

17. -The TSD investigation revealed that on June 23, 2010, Vallett formed three (3) new
entities and registered them for business with the Tennessee Secretary of State Division of Business

| Scrvices. (Exhibit B). The three entities, Axtell Business Soiutions,‘lnc.,l Axtell Payroll Services,
Inc., and Axtell Retirement Services, Inc. were all formed on June 23, 2010. (Exhibit B). Shortly
thereafter, Vallett created a new website for ’Ax‘teH Business Solutions, Inc. at
www.axtellonline.com. This new website is nearly identical to Vallett c‘i, ‘COA’S business website,
still located at www.advallett.com; however, it does not mention Vallett or any of his other business
entities by name. Both websites encourage customers to contact the site’s owner at 5141 V irginia

Way, Suite 460, Brentwood, TN 37027, Vallett’s address.
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EXHIBIT A



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
P‘DR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff, :  Civil Action No.
3:10-CV-00551

AARON DONALD VALLETT AND A. D. B
VALLETT & CO. LLC, :

Defendants,

ORDER GRANTING PERMANENT INJUNCTIONS,

AND ORDERING OTHER RELIEF AS TO DEFENDANTS
AARON DONALD VALLETAND A.D. VALLETT & CO. LLC

The Securfties and Exchange Commission having filed a Cor?xplaint and
Defendants Aaré;ﬁ Donald Vallett (“Vallett”) and A.D. Vallett & Co. LLC (“Vallett
& Co.™) (coﬁecﬁ?ely, the "Defendants") having entered a general appearance;
consented to the Court’s jurisdiction over Defendants and the subjeéﬁt matter of this
action; cengentadj to entry of this Order Granting Permanent Injunctions and
Ordering Other Relief (“Order”) without admitting or denying the aﬂegations of the

Complaint (except as to jurisdiction); waived findings of fact and conclusions of
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law; and waivedany right to appeal from this Order:

I

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that
Defendants and Defendants’ agents, servants, employees, éttomeys, and all persons
in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order
by personal seryice or otherwise are permanently restrained and enjoined from
violating, directij} or indirectly, Section IO(b)‘ of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the "Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder [17 C F R. § 240.10b-5], by using any means or instrumentality of
interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of any facility cf any nationial securities
exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security:

(a)_ to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud;

(b) to m}ake any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a

material fact necessary in order to make the statem°n*g made, in the light of

the circﬁm_stanoes under which they were made, not misleading; or

(c) to engage in any act, practice, or course of business wﬁich‘ operates or

would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.

IT.

Case 3:10-cv-00551 Document 13 Filed 06/09/10 Page 2 of 12 PagelD #: 514

-




IT IS HEREBY FURTHER »ORDERED, ADJUDGED, ANI£> DECREED
that Defendants and Defendants’ agents, servaﬁis, employees, attoméys, and all
persons in active concert or participation with them who receive acfual notice of
this Order by pefsonal service or otherwise are permanently restrained and ehjoined

from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Secur'ities Aét”) [15
U.S.C. § 77qg(a)} in the offer or sale of any security by the use of any means or
~ instruments of tréns;mrtation or cammunication in interstate commerce or by use of
the fnails, directly or indirectly:
(a) to empioy any device, scheme, or artifice to deﬁ*aud;f
(b) to oﬁtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a
- material fact or any omission of a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading; or
(¢) toengage in any fransaction, practice, or course of business which

" operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.

II.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and Defendants’ agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with them

who receive actual notice of this Order by personal setvice or otherwise are

3
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permanetly re'strgined and enjoined from, directly or indirectly:

(a) eml;loying dévices, schemes, or artifices to defraud clients or

prospective clients; or

(b) ehgaging in transactions, practices, or courses of business which

operate as a fraud or deceit upon clients or progpectivé clients;
in violation of Sections 206(1) and (2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the
“Advisers Act”) {15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(1) and (2)]. |
. Iv.

ITISF URTHER ORDERED that the assets of Defendants ‘ée, and hereby
are, frozen. The ﬁeeze shall include but not be limited to those funds located in any
bank accounts of the Def_endants. In addition, pfoceeds derived fromi the securities
offerings alleged'in the Commission’s complaint remaining in the cuétody and control
of the Defendants are hereby frozeén regardless of where said proéee&s are located.
The Defendants, iheir*ofﬁcers, agents, servants, employees, attomeyg;, and all persons
in active concert pr'participati«:}n with them, be, and hereby are, restt‘fiined from,
directly and indiréctly, transferring, setting off, receiving, changing, éel[ing, pledging,
assigning, liquidéting or otherwise disposing of or withdrawing any éssets and
property owned By, controlled by, or in the possession of said Defenc%ants. The court

!

further enjoins any disbursement by the Defendants, their agents, representatives,

4

3
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employees and officers and all persons acting in concert or participation with them,
whatever business names they may operate under, of any proceeds déri\)ed from the
saiés of securities described in the complaint.
| V.

ITIS FUITITHER ORDERED that the parties may take expedited discovery
as follows: A

A, Thesé parties may take depositions upon oral examinatioﬁ subject to at
least ten (10) business days notice prior to expiratioh of thirty (30) dz%ys after service
of the Summons and Complaint upon all Defendants, pursuant to Rule 30(a) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;

B.  Purguant to Rule 33(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the

parties shall answer all interrogatories within ten (10) business days of service of such

interrogatories;

C.  Pursuant to Rule 34 of the Federal Rules of Civil Prcrcedure, the parties
shall produce all documents within ten {10) business days of sefvice of such request;

D, Puréuam to Rule 36(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Pméedure, the
parties shall ansﬁér requests for admissions within ten (10) business days of service

of such request;
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E.  Theparties may serve discovery by facsimile, electronic mail or by any
- other means provided for within the Fedeml Rules of Civil Procedure, with the date
of service of s;.zcﬁ discovery being the date of sending in the event that discovery is
“served by either facsimile, electronic mail, or by hand deli&?ery; |
F. All written responses to the requests for discovery under the Federal
Rules of Civil Prqcedure shall be delivered to counsel for the party t}:.tat served the
dispovezy by the most expeditious means available, including facsimile, hand
delivery, or electronic mail, in which event the date of service of responses shall be

deemed to be theidate of sending the responses by the above-mentioned means.

VL

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each Defendant prepare and present to
this Court and to;;the Commission a sworn accounting of all funds received by each
of them pursuant to the scheme described in the Commission’s conxpfaint and of the
disposition and use of said proceeds. This accounting shall include, Eut not be
limited to, the naine and address of each investor (for each contract with an investor
by each Defendaﬁt), the total amount invested, the total amount rec¢ived from
investors, thé date each such investment was made and a iisting of all expenditures

showing the amount and to whom paid and the date of payment. The accountings
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shall be submitted to this Court and served upon the Commission within 20 days

from the date of éntr'y of this Order.

VIIL
Upon motion of the Commission, the Court shall determine whether it is

appropriate to or(;iet disgorgement of ill-gotten gains and/or a civil penalty pursuant
to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 774(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of
(the Exchange Act [15 US.C. § 78u(d)(3)] and, if so, the amount(s) of the
’disgorgement and/or civil penalty. If disgorgement is ordered, Defendant shall pay
prejudgment interest thereon, calculated from J aﬁuary I, 2010, based on the rate of
interest used by tiue Internal Revenue Service for the underpayment fiof federal
income tax as set forth in 26 U.S.C. § 6621(a)(2). In connection with the
Commission’s motion for disgorgement and/or civil penalties, and at any hearing
| held on such a méytion: ~( a) Defendants will be préckuded from arguizj‘zg that they did

not violate the fe%ieral securities laws as alleged in the Complaint; (é} Defendants
| may not challengp the validity of the Consent or this Order; (¢) solely for the
purposes of such ;mation, the allegations of the Complaint shall be ai::cepted as and

deemed true by the Court; and (d) the Court may determine the issugs raised in the

7
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motion on the ba%;is of affidavits, declgrations, excerpts of sworn deposition or
investigative testimony, and documentary evidénce, without regard to the standards
for summary judément contained in Rule 56(c) of the Federal Ruies‘ of Civil
Procedure. In connection with the Commission’s motion for disgorgement and/or
civil penalties, th;é parties may take discovery, including discovery from appropriate
non-parties. | |

| VIH

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendant Vallett is allowed $8,000
per month for Hvéing expenses for four months from the date of this Order. After
such period, Def‘;@ndant Vallett may apply to the Court with a sworr financial
statement for an ;tmount which the Court may determine may be exempted from the
freeze for the purpose qf his ordinary and necessafy Iiving expenses. Nothing in
this Order shall ﬁre\?ent Vallett from obtaining employment in the future and any
earnings from that employment shall be segregated from any frozen accounts énd
shall not be subject to the freeze, provided that no emplajment or eamiﬁgs may be
derived from the %other defendant in this case or from any entity under its control.

| IX. |
ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that FRANKLIN SYNERGY BANK in

Franklin, Tennesse is ordered to disburse by wire the total amount of four month’s
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living e’xpenses‘ set out about in Paragraph VIII above from Accour@t No. 2002509
to Vallett’s personal joint bank account number 0880000761 at Baricorp Bank in
Wilmington Deleware upon recéipt of this order. No further disbursements from
account number 2002509 at FRANKLIN SYNERGY BANK shall be aliowed
pursuant to this paragraph. Upon the entry of this Order, the asset freeze shall be

lifted from Vallett’s personal joint bank account number 0880000761 at Bancorp

Bank.
X.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that FRANKLIN SYNERGY BANK may
immediately disburse from account number 2002509 the sum of $7,755, This
amount represents the total of past due payroll as of June 4, 2010 td Vallett & Co.’s

© employees ($15, i128) and the employees of one its payroll clients ($29,167.47),
totaling 44,295.63, less the current balance of account number 2002467 at Franklin
Synergy Bank m the name of Vallett & Co. by wire to account num{ber 2002467
referenced above. No further disbursements from account number account number |
2002509 at F ranklm Synergy Bank shall be aliowed pursuant to thié paragraph.
The freeze on acéoum number 2{){}2467 at Franklin Synergy Bank is hereby lifted
so that account number 2002467 may be used in the order course of business to

make the aforementioned payroll expenses, provided that no disbursements may be

g
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made to the defepdants from this account. The defendants to are hereby directed to
provide‘ the Commission with weekly activity reports in this account.
XI.
In order to preserve the value of the assets of each of the defendants for the
benefit of investors, the Commission and the' defendants have agreed in principle

to certain carve-t;&uts from the freeze as follows:

(a) The anf:going payment of monthly mortgage indebtedness :on the real

estate asséts owned and managed by the Defendant Vallett.

(b) The paﬁymeht of operational expenses for the Defendant Vallett & Co.’s
payroll, bx;oker-dealer and Third Party Adminstrator and Advisory businesses
to allow those businesses to continue operations in the ordinéry course
business oﬁ a month to month basis so that the businesses may be wouﬁd

down or liqmdated for the benefit of investors.

The parties contémplate that each of the foregoing carve-outs will be supported by
the submission of written budgets reflecting the expenses associated with the
operation of the Defendants’ businesses and other reasonable and customary
information and %«aluations which may be reasonably requested by the Commission.
Upon submissioﬁ of those budgets and other valuations, the parties pontemplate that
the proposed carﬁfe-outs will be submitted by motion to the Court fqir approval.

10
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With respect to each of the carve-outs ordered herein or contemplated by the
parties, any h:;onby released will be placed in a segregated account to be
determined. Disbursements may be made from that account in the ordinafy course
of business, provided no funds shall be paid to the defendants or any of their

affiliates.

XIIL.

ITIS FURTHER ORDEERED that Franklin Synergy Bank may
immediately continue disbui‘senmeﬁts from the construction loan acqount' for the
property located :;;at 4007 Newman Place in Nashville, Tennessee and the freeze is
hereby lifted frmt:n the construction loan account number 2002475 at Franklin
Synergy Bank exclusively for the purpose of continuing the construction of said

property. No othier disbursements from the construction loan account may be made.

XIII,
Defendants’ Consent is incorporated herein with the same force and effect as if
fully set forth heé‘ein, and that the Defendants shall comply with all of the

undertakings and agreements set forth therein.

X1V,

11
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There bejng no just reason for delay, pursuant to Rule 54(bj of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, the Clerk is ordered to enter this Final Judgment

forthwith and without further notice.

Dated:__é"';'ﬁf’"/(z

UNITED smﬁas)ms@é‘”r JUDGE

12
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THE

STATE OF TENNESSEE
Tre Hargett, Secretary of State

; Division of Business Services
T 312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue
: : 6th Floor, William R. Snodgrass Tower

Nashville, TN 37243

. »
tesienoe®

Filing Information

Name: Axtell Business Solutions, Inc.

General Information

Control # : ‘834045 Formation Locale: Williamson County
Filing Type: Corporation For-Profit - Domestic Date Formed: 06/23/2010

Filing Date: 06/23/2010 9:58 AM ~ Fiscal Year Close 12

Status: Active

Duration Term: Perpetual

Registered Agent Address Principal Address

AARON D VALLETT 5141 Virginia Way

5141 VIRGINIA WAY Ste. 460

STE 460 : Brentwood, TN 37027 USA

BRENTWOOD, TN 37027 USA

The following document(s) was/were filed in this office on the date(s) indicated below:

Date Filed Filing Description Image #
06/23/2010 Initial Filing _ 6736-0463
Active Assumed Names (if any) Date Expires
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STATE OF TENNESSEE
Tre Hargett, Secretary of State

Division of Business Services

312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue
6th Fioor, William R. Snodgrass Tower
Nashville, TN 37243

Filing information

Name: Axtell Payroll Services, Inc.

General Information

Control #: 634047 Formation Locale: Willamson County
Filing Type: Corporation For-Profit - Domestic Date Formed: 06/23/2010

Filing Date: 06/23/2010 9:58 AM Fiscal Year Close 12

Status: Active

Duration Term: Perpetual

Registered Agent Address Principal Address

AARON D VALLETT : 5141 Virginia Way

5141 VIRGINIA WAY . Ste. 460

STE 460 Brentwood, TN 37027 USA

BRENTWOOD, TN 37027 USA

The following document(s) was/were filed in this office on the date(s) indicated below:

Date Filed Filing Description Image #
06/23/2010 initial Filing 6736-0464
Date Expires

Active Assumed Names (if any)
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STATE OF TENNESSEE
Tre Hargett, Secretary of State

Division of Business Services

312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue
6th Floor, William R. Snodgrass Tower
“Nashville, TN 37243

.
. 3
ST er’

Filing Information

Name: Axtell Retirement Services, Inc.

General Information

Control # : 634049 Formation Locale: Williamson County
Filing Type: Corporation For-Profit - Domestic Date Formed: 06/23/2010

Filing Date: 06/23/2010 9:58 AM Fiscal Year Close 12

Status: Active

Duration Term: Perpetual

Registered Agent Address Principal Address

AARON D VALLETT 5141 Virginia Way

5141 VIRGINIA WAY Ste. 460

STE 460 Brentwoed, TN 37027 USA

BRENTWOOD, TN 37027 USA

The following document(s) was/were filed in this office on the date(s) indicated below:

Date Filed Filing Description ' image #
06/23/2010 Initial Filing ; , 6736-0465
Active Assumed Names (if any) Date Expires
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BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
FOR THE STATE OF TENNESSEE

TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION,
TENNESSEE INSURANCE DIVISIOI\

Petitioners. Docket # 12.06-108775J

TSD Order No.: 10-008
TID Order No.: 10-046

Vs.

)
)
)
)
)
V )
A.D. VALLETT & CO., LLC, )
A.D. VALLETT & COMPANY, )
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND L, LLC, )
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND II, LLC,)
A.D. VALLETT INCOME & OPPORTUNITY )

FUND I, LLC, and )
AARON DONALD VALLETT, )

Respondents. )

AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF TENNESSEE)
COUNTY OF SMITH)

PERSONALLY came and appeared before me, the undersigned notary, the within named Salter N.
Rackley, who is a resident of Smith County, State of Tennessee, and makes this her statement and
Affidavit upon oath and affirmation of belief and personal knowledge that the following matters,
facts, and statements set forth herein are true and correct to the best of her knowledge:

I, SALTER N. RACKLEY, HAVING BEEN DULY SWORN, DEPOSE AND SAY AS
FOLLOWS: :

I. I, Salter N. Rackley, am a resident of Elmwood, Tennessee;
City State
2. My husband, William R. Rackley, and I were investment advisory clients of Aaron

Donald Vallett (“Vallett™). OnJuly 17, 2008, Vallett came to our home and we signed an investment

advisory agreement with A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC (“Vallett & Co.”). Ireceived a copy of the



agréemen‘c that day. The agreement was signed by A.D. Vallett, dated July 17, 2008.

3. In August 2009, Vallet cashed out an annuity, held by my husband and I as joint
| policyholders, without our knowledge or consent and without disolosing to us that there wé‘u]‘d bean
early termination fee charged. The signature that appears on page two (2) of the Withdrawal Request
qum for Annuity Contract # 70428616 (attached as Exhibit B) is not my signature. [ do not know
who signed my name and I did not grant permission for anyone to sign my name on my behalf.

4. In August 2009, my husband contracted to purchase a boat for two hundred twenty-
ﬁve thousand dollars ($225,000). On August 3, 2009, my husband wrote a seventeen thousand five
hundred dollar (§17,500) check on his Stern-Agee account. This combined with a previous check for
five thousand dollars (§5,000) was the down payment on kthe boat (leaving a balance of two hundred
two thousand five hundred dollars (§202,500.00) to pay Citizens Bank, Carthage, TN to wire transfer
the balance of the contract. My husband left for Lake Superior to pick up the bdat.

5. On August 19, 2009 the two hundred two thousand five hundred dollars
($202,500.00) check was declared non sufficient funds (NSFV), Vallett then started to draw money
from “whatever source” to repay the bank. On August 31, 2009, Vallett withdrew one hundred ten
thousand dollars (§11 0,000) from my securities account {after selling securities), and on September
2, 2009 Vallett withdrew ten thousand dollars ($10,000) from my securities account. On Sepf;ember
2, 2009 Vallett withdrew ﬁfty thousand dollars ($50,000) from my investment retirement account
(IRA). On September 2, 2009 Vallett withdrew thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) from my husband’s
IRA account. Vallett sent all of this money directly to the Bank. On September 1, 2009, I was being
driven to Chicago to join the boat trip and only recenﬂy discovered where Vallett got the funds tb

cover the balance ydue on the boat.



6.  OnSeptember 2, 2009, Vallett telephoned me while I was on the boat and V allett told
me thét a check was being sent by FedEx to my home. Vallett did not tell me where the check came
from or to wﬁom it was made out. Vallett stated that he would pick up the check from my house
sitter (and he did) and would take‘it to the bank. Onlyr later did I learn that the check was the
proceeds of the surrender of my husband’s annuity.

7. At the time of full surrender, the annuity from Allianz Life Insurance Company of
North America was valued at five hundred seven thousénd seven hundred and seven dollars
($507,707.00). Thirty one thousand eighty two dollars (§31,082.00) was paid as an early termination
fee for cashing out the annuity prior to the maturity date. I do not know what happened to the
balance of the proceeds or four hundred seventy-six thousand six hundred and twenty-five doyllars
($476,625) on or about September 3, 2009; however, on April 13, 2010, 1 contacted Vallett and
asked for our money. On April 14, 2010, Vallett wire transferred two hundred fifty thousand dollars
($250,000) to our personal bank account, and on April 14, 2010, Vallett deposited one hundred
thousand dollars ($100,000) into my husband’s brokerage account (to cover a margin balance before
the account was transferred to a new broker). That leaves one hundred twenty-six thousand six
hundred twenty-five dollars (§126,625) unaccounted for to date.

8. On April 14, 2010, I learned that Vallett had liquidated some of the holdings in our ~
investment accounts in 2008 and invested the proceeds into an investment called Collateral Fund I,
without my knowledge or consent. In addition, Vallett did not provide us with any offering materials
or tell us about the liquidation and transfer of assets to Collateral Fund [ at any time after making the
investment. It was not until April 14, 2010, when I received an Internal Revenue Service Interest

Income 1099 form (attached as Exhibit C) from Vallet & Co. that indicated that I was receiving



interest income from my investment in Collateral Fund I that I knew anything about this investment.
Prior to receiving this 1099 form we had never heard of the Collateral Fund I, had no knowledge of
investing in such a fund and to our knowledge had never received any interest payments from the

fund.

FURTHER, AFFIANT SAITH NOT.

- " -
SALTER N. RACKLEY
Sworn to and subscribed before me this j_ff_" day of S{@%g b e , 201 0.

b 4 =
F b D, Thermas

e Lile G Thidaa
Notary Public  Lile & . 7T \}\?ﬁs\g} O,%@

STATE
OF
TENNESSEE
NOTARY
PUBLIC

E / .
My commission expires: 3 /12 /i3
7 f
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a.d. vaﬂétt & co.

financial management

5141 Virginia Way, Ste. 460 * Brentwood * TN * 37027
615-312-8240 % 615-312-824 fax * 877-312-8240 toll free
info@advallett.com * www advallett.com

/J X )mei le

Private Wealth Management

Investment Advisory Agreement

Account #

{(the “A.ccount™)

Sa e

Re: the account of

The undersigned (“Client”) hereby employs A.D. Va

Account. Adviser agrees to serve in that capacity under

1. Authority - Adviser shall have full power to direct
manage, and change the investment and
reinvestment of the assets in the Account, the
proceeds thereof, and any additions thereto, and to
take other action with respect to such assets, all
without prior consultation with Client, in accordance
with such objectives as Client may, from time to
time, have furnished Adviser in writing, and subject
only to such written limitations as Client may
impose. In providing all services hereunder, Adviser
is entitled to rely on the financial information and

~other information provided by Client without any
duty or obligation to investigate the accuracy or
completeness of the information. Adviser does not
guarantee the investment performance of any of the
investments in the Account.

2. Custody - The assets in the Account shall be held
for safekeeping with Steme, Agee, & Leach, Inc.,
aka S.ALL (“Cu;toamn’“ Adviser shall not act
as Custodian for the assets in the Account and shail
not be liable to Client for any act, conduct or
omission by Custodian. Adviser is hereby authorized
and empowered to ISaLL instructions to Custodxam

d to request information about the Account from

CL istodian.

3. Reports to Client - Adviser will send Client an
inventory of the investments, list of fransactions, and
performance returns of the Account as soon as
easonably possible afier the end of each quarterly

veriod. Copies of. confirmations of transactions
P f _

executed will be sent promptly to the Client or its
designated party by the Custodian. Adviser does not

assume  responsibility  for the accuracy of
information furnished by Custodian or any other
party.

llett & Co., :
the following terms and conditions:

LLC (“Adviser”) as investment adviser for the

4. Confidential Relationship - All information and
advice furnished by either party to the other shall be
treated as confidential and shall not be disclosed to
third parties except as required by law.

5. Proxy Voting - The Adviser does not vote Client
proxies. The Client is responsible for voting any such
proxies.

6. Non-Exclusive Contract - Client understands that
Adviser acts as adviser to other clients, and may
publish or give advice and take action with respect to
any other client which may differ from the timing or
nature of action taken with respect to the Account
Client further understands that Advis“r will not have
any obiigation to purchase or sell for the Account, or
to recommend for purchase or sale for the Account,
any securities which Adviser, its principals, affiliates,
or employees may purchase or sell for any other client
or themseives if in their opinion such transaction
appears inadvisable for the Account. Client recognizes
that transactions in a specific security may not be
accomplished for all clients at the same time at the
same price,

7. Liability - Adviser shall not be subject to liabiiity for
any act or omission in the course of, or connectsd
with, its performance of this agreement, except in the
case of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross
negligence on the part of the Adviser, or the rec@;%ass
disregard by the Adviser of ifs obhgamons and duties
under this agreement, but nothing herein shall in any
way constitute a waiver or limitation of anv rights
which C‘ ent may have under any federal or state
securities law or the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA™), if applicable. All
actions taken by Adviser hereunder, either before or

er the death or incapacity of the undersigned, but

o

A Vallett & Col LLC
Privaie Wealth Management + Investment Advisory Agreemen
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efore receipt by Adviser of information of such
death or incapacity, shall be binding upon Client and
Ciient’s legal representatives who shall hold Adviser
harmless hereunder from all liability arising from
such action so taken.

8. Disclaimers and Limitations - The Client’s
investments are subject to risks associated with
investing in securities, including various market,
currency, economic, political and business risks. The
Adviser does not guarantee the performance of the
Client’s investments or guarantee that the Adviser’s
investment advice or strategies will be successful or
that the Client’s investment objectives will be met.
In the event that the Client directs Adviser to use a
particular broker or dealer, the Adviser may not be
authorized under those circumstances to negotiate
commissions and may not be able to obtain volume
discounts or best execution. In addition, under these
circumstances a disparity in commission charges
may exist between the commissions charged to
clients who direct the Adviser to use a particular
broker or dealer.

9. Agreement Not Assignable - No assignment (as
that term is defined in the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940) of this Agreement may be made by either
party without written consent of the non-assigning
party. For purposes of determining Client consent in
the event of an assignment, Adviser will send the
Client written notice of the Assignment. If the Client
does not object in writing within sixty (60) days of
sending of such notice, the Client will be deemed to
have consented to the assignment. This Agreement
and all subseguent amendments shall inure to the
benefit of the successor and assigning of the parties
hereto.

1¢. Adviser Representations - Adviser represents that
it is registered as an investment adviser under the
Advisers Act and that such registration is currently
effective. 1f the Account is subject to ERISA,
Adviser acknowledges that it is a “fiduciary” (as that
erm is defined by ERISA) with respect to the
Account.

11, Client Renrﬁsematwas - Client xeyresewts that
emplovment of Adviser, including the right to ’Tlabx‘f

4

decisions with respect to the voting of proxies, if

granted, IS authorized by, has been accomplished in

13, Communications -

accordance with, and does not violate, the documents
governing the Account. Client will fumish Adviser
with true copies of all governing documents. If the
Account is subject to ERISA: (i) Client acknowlpdg s
that it is a “named fiduciary™ with respect to control o
management of the assets of the Account; (ii) C 1ent
agrees to obtain and maintain a bond, satisfying the
requirements of Section 412 of ERISA, and to include
Adviser and its agents among those insured under that
bond; and (iii) Client represents that Adviser’s
investment strategy is appropriate for the Account’s
assets.

12. Termination - This agreement may be terminated at

any time by either party upon 30 days’ written notice
to the other party. Fees will be prorated to- date of
termination. In the event of termination of this
agreement, Adviser shall have no obligation
whatsoever to recommend any action with respect 1o
or to liquidate the assets in the Account. Adviser shall
be entitled to be paid its fees in connection with its
services provided hereunder for the period to such
termination.

Instructions with respect to
securifies transactions may be given orally or via
facsimile and where deemed necessary, may be
confirmed in writing as soon as possible. Notices
required to be given under this agreement, but not
including reports to clients, shall be delivered by hand
or by overnight mail or sent by certified or registered
mail and shall be deemed given when received at the
address specified below, and, as to the Custodian, at
such address as it may specify to the Adviser in
writing, or at such other address as a party to receive
notice may specify In & notice given in accordance
with this provision. Adviser may rely on any notice
from any person reasonably believed to be genuine
and authorized.

14. Fees - For Adviser’s services, Client will pay a

management fee based on the market value of the
Account in accordance with the negotiated fee printed
below. Adviser’s fees are exclusive of and in addition
to any fees assessed by the funds that the Client’s
account is invested in and/or fees charged by the
Custodian. The percentage fee will be prorated for any

eriod of Mci}w & guarter vear, but a fee shall be du
for each such gu e during any part of which Adviser
is managing the Account, O fourth of the annual

(o

(84
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‘management fee will be charged in advance each
guarter based upon the Account’s market value at
the end of the quarter. The management fee may be
deducted directly from Client’s Account by the
Custodian and automatxcahy remitted to Adviser.
Adviser will mail Client a copy of the bill and it is
the Client’s responsibility to verify the accuracy of
the fee calculation. The annual fee will be
determined based on the ending aggregate market
value of the assets in the Account each guarter.
Client is responsible for any management fee
accrued from the beginning of the quarter to the date
of termination. Adviser is responsible for refund of
any payment made in advance accrued from the
beginning of the quarter to the date of termination.

Annual % Fee l.o7

15, Disclosure - Client acknowledges that he/she has
read the foregoing and has kept a copy for future
reference, and Client acknowledges receipt of
Adviser’s Disclosure Statement, as required by Rule
204-3 under the Advisers Act.

16. Severability - If any provision in this agreement is
invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the
agreement will continue in 1 full force and effect.

17. Amendment and Waiver - The Adviser may
change this agreement with prior notice to the

lient. The failure to insist on strict compliance with
this agreement will not constitute & waiver of rights
under the agreement.

18. Arbitration - Client hereby agrees that all

controversies which may arise between Client and

the Adviser concerning any transaction or the
construction, performance, or breach of this
agreement between Client and the Adviser, whether
entered into prior to, on, or subsequent to the date
hereof, shall be determined by arbitration. Client
understands that this agreement to arbitrate does not
constitute a waiver of the right to seek a judicial
forum where such waiver would be void under
federal securities laws. Any arbitration shall be held

in the city chosen by the Adviser or the American

Arbitration Association, pursuant to the Arbitration

the American

3

Laws of Tennessee, or before

Arbitration Association and in accm‘dancs with its
rules then applying. ‘

/t\D \’n

18, Captiops - The captions in this agreement are
included for convenience of reference only and in no
way define or delimit any of the provisions hereof or
otherwise affect their construction or effect.

20. Entire Aereement - This agreement corrstitutes the
entire agreement of the parties with respect to
management of the Account and can be amended only
by written document signed by both parties. This
agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties
hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and
gove”ned by the law of the State of Tennessee, without
giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.

21. Signatures — In witness ‘whereof, the Client and
Adviser have executed this Agreement on the day
month, and year written below:

< ¢ ’
Soly, N Kookl oy i1o3

Client Signature / Date

Name of Client (type or print) /

- 3 s '
e N Vo f*ew/\/ |

Second Signature (joint account) Date

Name of Client (type or print)

If corporation or other entity:

nature Date

w2
(TQ

It

Name of Client (type or print) Title

Accepted by A.D. Vallett & (i’o, LLC

Signature Date
Aaron D. Vallett President
Name Title

lett & Co., 1LLC

Diiveic Woedalth Managemeni * Invesinient Advisory Agrecment

Page 3 of 3



EXHIBIT B



Ele 18:83  B15-434-34083 OFFICE DEFOT #2316 Face  28/28
tobe R E s WU YUY

e e

Adftanz Life Insurance Company © » & o
aof Narth i ‘
of Nort Ameri | - Alliarz ()
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8009501862
Withdrawal Reguest Form for Annuity Contract # _ 70425616
This form ks used to reguest & dishuesament from your emitract,
« Uss this formn oty if the tax pian type & non-gualified, of 3 qualified: [RA, Roth [RA,
= Do notuse this form for qualified types 403(b), 407 (K}, Keogh, pension plan, or profit sharing plan,
Complete the Qualified Cishursecrrent Request form S2085 inxtead,
»  Read and complate all sections of this focm, 5
Corsult respurces t datermiies what [o aliowabls, avallable, tor plen, definitons, and impsct te poficy valies
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Full surrender Alllanz is relsased, acquited, and discharged from all clsims andfor fabllities under this contract, ¥ any, which
ey exist now of hersafier, The pagment represents he full amoeunt dus under the cootraar i youur AUll srrender proceeds
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[ United States Postal Service

2 Mail to policyowner. (no fee)
[) Gvemight ($15 fee)

0 To altemnate address: /J
|

o= ™
|

+ Name of financial instirudan:

} O To currene address an record | }

|
P pml v Flrea et {7 United States Pastal Service « Addresc: ‘
0 mail 1o financial (1o Fee ’ . Address;
insttution: - .
l ‘ O Crv_em?ght (515 Fee) « ACzount Numbern
» For the benefit of; i
@/W't re transmitcal
' h i x " -
(320 fee) 0 Amach 8 voided check. Ask the receiving bank about their fees, ifany. <7, s f/“: "/

@ | understand that once Adlianz has processed my requast, Allianz Life will not reverse federsl or state withholding | selected, For s e
'Smﬂ full surrender, if the original conttract is mot attached, (/e cartify that the contract has been lost or destroyed, and the best of o e.e\ |
" my/our knowiledge and befief, is not in anyone's possession, y ; ,}\
) Ny Ry I c?dffi? /2885 N1 5
Policyowrner's signature Signed date ' ““j\i
: , P ' ; e i
e tay // Z’/ Ll/? ~Z';(?"u'* r"L«-ﬁ{/ ,z,:i// s ?/ / ﬁ/,ﬂ :}}E : %"\m@
ioint pc.\uqrawnnr"s signature B /;7 Stgred dat ' o v’gﬂ
- Fx
(ADDITIONAL SIGNATURES REQUIRED, IF APPLICABLE) ,{? Qe &
Trust Az trustes of the:
Trustee's signature rust name (printed) 19% " Signed date
sPowar-of-Atarmsy: By,
Policyowner's name ATIomEy-in-fact signature Signed date
Cotlaters! zssignmeant
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BEFORE THE COMI\/HSSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
FOR THE STATE OF TENNESSEE ‘

TID Order No.: 10-046

AD.VALLETT & CO.,LLC,

AD. VALLETT & COMPANY
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND I, LLC, )
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND II, LLC,)
AD. VALLETT INCOME & OPPORTUNITY )

TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION, )

TENNESSEE INSURANCE DIVISION, )
Petitioners. ) Docket # 12.06-108775J

)
vs. } © TSD Order No.: 10-008

)

)

)

FUND 1, LLC, and )

AARON DONALD VALLETT, )

Respondents. )
AFFIDAVIT

STATEOF | €nnesse e )

COUNTY OF Dauidsom

PERSONALLY came and appeared before me, the undersigned notary, the within named Donna M.

Boswell, who is a resident of “‘j@‘; A <o County, State of T N , and makes this her
statement and Affidavit upon “oath and affirmation of belief and personal knowledge that the
following matters, facts, and statements set forth herein are true and correct to the best of her

knowledge:

I, DONNA M. BOSWELL, HAVING BEEN DULY SWORN, DEPOSE AND SAY AS
FOLLOWS:

1. I, Donna M. Boswell, am a resident of j‘/ 4 55 {/f’/ /6 , 7N/ :
City State
2. On August 1, 2008, I signed an investment advisory agreement with A.D. Vallet &
Co., LLC (“Vallett & Co.”). [ was first contacted about this agreement by Mr. Vincent Giannattasio

(“Giannattasio”), an investment advisor representative with Vallett & Co. [ know Giannattasio from



U.S. Bank, where | am an employee and Giannattasio was a former employee. Giannattasio
contacted me and suggested that I sign an advisory agreement with his new employer, Vallett & Co.
] agreed and entered a new investment advisory agreement with Vallett & Co. Ireceived a copy of
the agreemenf, signed by A.D. Vallett, dated August 1, 2008. I have included a copy of the

agreement with this affidavit.

FURTHER, AFFIANT SAITH NOT.

DONNA M. BOSWELL

B o . . 7 ’S%“
Sworn to and subscribed before me this the .5/ day of }k\gi i , 2010.
: o

Notary Public

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES
My commission expires: ONJULY 7 2014
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a.d. vallett & co.

financial management

S141 Virginia V\"a:y',»Ste‘ 460 * Brentwood * TN * 37027
615-312-8240 *% 615-312-8241 fax * 877-312-8240 tol] free
info{@advailett.com * www.advallett.com

Re: the account of

Private Wealth Management

Investment Advisory Agreement

Account #

(the “Account”)

o

. VY -
s / Betce /Z/Zz Qﬁzaﬂ/

The undersigned (“Client”) hereby employs A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC (“Adviser”) as investment adviser for the
Account. Adviser agrees to serve in that capacity under the foliowing terms and conditions:

1. Authority - Adviser shall have full power to direct,
manage, and change the investment and
reinvestment of the assets in the Account, the
proceeds thereof, and any additions thereto, and to
take other action with respect to such assets, all
without prior consultation with Client, in accordance
with such objectives as Client may, from time to
time, have furnished Adviser in writing, and subject
only to such written limitations as Client may
impose. In providing all services hereunder, Adviser
is entitled to rely on the financial information and
other information provided by Client without any
duty or obligation to investigate the accuracy or
completeness of the information. Adviser does not
guarantee the investment performance of any of the
investments in the Account.

2. Custody - The assets in the Account shall be held
for safekeeping with Sterne, Agee, & Leach, Inc.,
ak.a S.AL.I (“Custodian™). Adviser shall not act
as Custodian for the assets in the Account and shall
not be liable to Client for any act, conduct or
omigsion by Custodian. Adviser is hereby authorized
and empowered to issue instructions to Custodian
and to request information about the Account from
Custodian.

3, Reports to Client - Adviser will send Client an
inventory of the investments, list of transactions, and
performance returns of the Account as soon as
reasonably possible after the end of each quarterly
period. Copies of confirmations of transactions
executed will be sent promptly to the Client or its
designated party by the Custodian. Adviser does not
assume responsibility for the accuracy of
information furnished by Custodian or any other

party.

4. Confidential Relationship - All information and

advice furnished by either party to the other shall be
treated as confidential and shall not be disclosed to
third parties except as required by law.

5. Proxy Voting - The Adviser does not vote Client

proxies. The Client is responsible for voting any such
proxies.

6. Non-Exclusive Contract - Client understands that
- Adviser acts as adviser to other clients, and may

publish or give advice and take action with respect to
any other client which may differ from the timing or
nature of action taken with respect to the Account,
Client further understands that Adviser will not have
any obligation to purchase or sell for the Account, or
to recommend for purchase or sale for the Account,
any securities which Adviser, its principals, affiliates,
or employees may purchase or sell for any other client
or themselves if in their opinion such transaction
appears inadvisable for the Account. Client recognizes
that transactions in a specific security may not be
accomplished for all clients at the same time at the
same price.

7. Liability - Adviser shall not be subject to liability for

any act or omission in the course of, or connected
with, its performance of this agreement, except in the
case of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross
negligence on the part of the Adviser, or the reckless
disregard by the Adviser of its obligations and duties
under this agreement, but nothing herein shall in any
way constitute a waiver or limitation of any rights
which Client may have under any federal or state
securities law or the Emplovee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA™), if applicable. All
actions taken by Adviser hereunder, either before or
after the death or incapacity of the undersigned, but

A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC

Private Wealth Management ¢ Invesiment Advisory Agreement
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before receipt by Adviser of information of such accordance with, and does not violate, the documents

death or incapacity, shall be binding upon Client and governing the Account. Client will furnish Adviser
Client’s legal representatives who shall hold Adviser with true copies of all governing documents. If the
harmless hereunder from all Hability arising from Account is subject to ERISA: (i) Client acknowledges
such action so taken. that it is a “named fiduciary” with respect to control or

management of the assets of the Account; (ii) Client

8. Disclaimers and Limitations -~ The Client’s agrees to obtain and maintain a bond, satisfying the
investments are subject to risks associated with requirements of Section 412 of ERISA, and to include
investing in securities, including various market, Adviser and its agents among those insured under that
currency, economic, political and business risks. The bond; and (iii) Client represents that Adviser’s
Adviser does not guarantee the performance of the investment strategy is appropriate for the Account’s
Client’s investments or guarantee that the Adviser’s assets. ‘
investment advice or strategies will be successful or )
that the Client’s investment objectives will be met. 12. Termination - This agreement may be terminated at
In the event that the Client directs Adviser to use a any time by either party upon 30 days’ written notice
particular broker or dealer, the Adviser may not be to the other party. Fees will be prorated to date of
authorized under those circumstances to negotiate termination. In the event of termination of this
commissions and may not be able to obtain volume agreement, Adviser shall have no obligation
discounts or best execution. In addition, under these whatsoever to recomumend any action with respect to
circumstances a disparity in commission charges or to liquidate the assets in the Account. Adviser shall
may exist between the commissions charged to. be entitled to be paid its fees in connection with its
clients who direct the Adviser to use a particular services provided hereunder for the period to such
broker or dealer. termination.

9. Agreement Not Assignable - No assignment (as 13. Communications - Instructions with respect to
that term is defined in the Investment Advisers Act securities transactions may be given orally or via
of 1940) of this Agreement may be made by either facsimile ~and where deemed necessary, may be
party without written consent of the non-assigning confirmed in writing as soon as possible, Notices.
party. For purposes of determining Client consent in required to be given under this agreement, but not
the event of an assignment, Adviser will send the including reports to clients, shall be delivered by hand
Client written notice of the Assignment. If the Client or by overnight mail or sent by certified or registered
does not object in writing within sixty (60) days of mail and shall be deemed given when received at the
sending of such notice, the Client will be deemed to address specified below, and, as to the Custodian, at
have consented to the assignment. This Agreement such address as it may specify to the Adviser in
and all subsequent amendments shall inure to the writing, or at such other address as a party to receive
benefit of the successor and assigning of the parties notice may specify in a notice given in accordance
hereto. with this provision. Adviser may rely on any notice

from any person reasonably believed to be genuine

10. Adviser Representations - Adviser represents that and authorized.
it is registered as an investment adviser under the
Advisers Act and that such registration is currently 14. Fees - For Adviser’s services, Client will pay a
effective. If the Account is subject to ERISA, management fee based on the market value of the
Adviser acknowledges that it is a “fiduciary” (as that Account in accordance with the negotiated fee printed
term is defined by ERISA) with respect to the below. Adviser’s fees are exclusive of and in addition
Account. to any fees assessed by the funds that the Client’s

account is invested in and/or fees charged by the

11. Client Representations - Client represents that Custodian. The percentage fee will be prorated for any
employment of Adviser, including the right to make period of less than a quarter year, but a fee shall be due
decisions with respect to the voting of proxies, if for each such quarter during any part of which Adviser
granted, is authorized by, has been accomplished in is managing the Account. One fourth of the annual

A.D. Valiett & Co., LLC

Private Wealth Management ¢ Linvestmen: Advisory 4greement
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management fee will be charged in advance each 19. Captions - The captions in this agreement are

quarter based upon the Account’s market value at included for convenience of reference only and in no
the end of the quarter. The management fee may be way define or delimit any of the provisions hereof or
deducted directly from Client’s Account by the otherwise affect their construction or effect.
Custodian and automatically remitted to Adviser.
Adviser will mail Client a copy of the bill and it is 20. Entire Agreement - This agreement constitutes the
the Client’s responsibility to verify the accuracy of entire agreement of the parties with respect to
the fee calculation. The annual fee will be management of the Account and can be amended only
determined based on the ending aggregate market by written document signed by both parties. This
value of the assets in the Account each quarter, agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties
Client is responsible for any management fee hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and
accrued from the beginning of the quarter to the date governed by the law of the State of Tennessee, without
of termination. Adviser is responsible for refund of giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.
any payment made in advance accrued from the
beginning of the quarter to the date of termination. 21. Signatures — In witness whereof, the Client and
‘ Adviser have executed this Agreement on the day,
Annual % Fee / "/Z— mo n‘.l., and year written be oW
-~
15. Disclosure - Client acknowledges that he/she has (ﬁ pﬂ?’zf{_fzﬁ/?? ?%4%@%&
read the foregoing and has kept a copy for future @iem Signaturv
reference, and Client acknowledges receipt of ~ /
Adviser’s Disclosure Statement, as required by Rule / 040 A / /’%F //// /
204-3 under the Advisers Act. Neme Ofc ient (type oxvp/mt )

16, Severability - If any provision in this agreement is

mvat‘id or z.memotceab.]e,r the remainder of the Second Signature (joint account) Date
agreement will continue in full force and effect. ~

17. Amendment and Waiver - The Adviser may
change this agreement with prior notice to the
Client. The failure to insist on strict compliance with
this agreement will not constitute a waiver of rights
under the agreement.

Name of Client (type or print)

If corporation or other entity:

18. Arbitration - Client hereby agrees that all

controversies which may arise between Client and Signature Date

the Adviser oonoerning any transaction or the

construction, performance, or breach of this e — —
Name of Client {type or print) Title

agreement between Client and the Adviser, whether
entered Into prior to, on, or subsequent to the date
hereof, shall be determined by arbitration. Client
understands that this agreement to arbitrate does not Accepted by A.D. Vallett & Co, LLC:

constitute a waiver of the right to seek a judicial o ‘ /
: o el — /1% e /1 /os

forum where such waiver would be void under

federal securities laws. Any arbitration shall be held Signature Date
in the city chosen by the Adviser or the American

Arbitration Association, pursuant to the Arbitration Aaron D. Vallett President
Laws of Tennessee, or before the American Name Title

Arbitration Association and in accordance with its
rules then applying.

A.D. Vallett & Co., LLC

Private Wealth Management ¢ Investment Advisory Agreement
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BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
FOR THE STATE OF TENNESSEE '

TID Order No.: 10-046
AD.VALLETT & CO.,LLC,

AD. VALLETT & COMPANY,
A.D.VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND I, LLC, )
AD. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND II, LLC,))
AD. VALLETT INCOME & OPPORTUNITY )

TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION, )
TENNESSEE INSURANCE DIVISION, ) '
Petitioners. ) Docket # 12.06-108775J
)
VS. ) TSD Order No.: 16-008
)
)
)

FUND I, LLC, and )
AARON DONALD VALLETT, )
Respondents. )
AFFIDAVIT
-
STATE OF [evtstsse )
COUNTY OF Lavdes )

PERSONALLY came and appeared before me, the undersigned notary, the within named Donna
Broadaway, who is a resident of e kinan County, State of \T:'Wfé‘_g;_gi_ﬁ , and makes this

her statement and Affidavit upon oath and affirmation of belief and personal knowledge that the
foliowing matters, facts, and statements set forth herein are true and correct to the best of her

knowledge:

I, DONNA BROADAWAY, HAVING BEEN DULY SWORN, DEPOSE AND SAY AS

TERTY ¥ ARRTIC,
AW W LW L

1. I, Donna Broadaway, am a resident of //W,C;i ,/ eb .| /\j
Cit{} State
2. On October 3, 2008, I signed an investment advisory agreement with A.D. Vallet &

Co., LLC (*“Vallett & Co.”). I was first contacted and about this agreement by Mr. Vincent

Giannattasio (“Giannattasio”), an investment advisor representative with Vallett & Co. He suggeste



that I sign an advisory agreement with his new employer, Vallett & Co. [ agreed and entered a new

investment advisory agreement with Vallett & Co. Ireceived a copy of the agreement, signed by

A.D. Vallett, dated October 6, 2008. I have included a copy of the agreement with this affidavit.

FURTHER, AFFIANT SAITH NOT.

N deyor_A
Sworn to and subscribed before me this the 17% dayof ﬁ{m,;ﬁi
J

"~

\ .

¢ H
NSO s £ &c o d devriy
DONNA BROADAWAY

My commission expires: W}BI/S / erQf s /

o

, 2010.
. S
i ‘,ek Q&\_,,'“
S AL SRR
Notary Public
NI TIPS
N [
\\"\ <% H?E&&n 4y
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PR STATE -
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Sl TEMHESSEE -
= L NOTARY by
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a.d. vallett & co. Private Wealth Management

financial management Investment Advisory Agreement
S141 Vieginia Way, Sie. 460 # Brentwood # TN * 37027 ’
6153128240 % 615-312-R241 fax # 877-31 2-6240 1ol free Account ¥

infofadvallett.com ® wwiwadvallett,com

e

. ’ "‘;' /. ” R ) .
Re: the account of /,Z/ Ol (:7 (‘/ ?/ 0«1"@/ Bl e S ' (the “Account”™)

The undersigned (“Client”) hereby employs A.D. Valiett & Co., LLC (“Adviser”) as investment adviser for the
Account. Adviser agrees to serve in that capacity under the following terms and conditions:

1. Authority - Adviser shall have full power to direct, 4. Confidential Relatienship - All information and
manage, and change the investment and advice furnished by either party to the other shall be
reinvestment of the assets in the Account, the treated as confidential and shall not be disclosed to
proceeds thereof, and any additions thereto, and to third parties except as required by law, '

take other action with respect to such assets, all
without prior consultation with Client, in accordance 8, Proxy Voting - The Adviser does not vote Client
with such objectives as Client may, from time to proxies. The Client is responsible for voting any such

time, have furnished Adviser in writing, and subject proxies.
only to such written limitations as Client may
tmpose, In providing all services hereunder, Adviser
is entitled to rely on the financial information and
other information provided by Client without any
duty or obligation to investigate the accuracy or
completeness of the information. Adviser does not
guarantee the investment performance of any of the

investments in the Account,

6. Non-Exclusive Comtract - Client understands that
Adviser acts as adviser to other clients, and may
publish or give advice and take action with respect to
any other client which may differ from the timing or
nature of action taken with respect to the Account.
Chient further understands that Adviser will not have
any obligation to purchase or sell for the Account, or
to recomtnend for purchase or sale for the Account,
any securities which Adviser, its principals, affiliates,
or employees may purchase or sell for any other client

a.k.a. S.A.L.I (“Custodian™). Adviser shall not act or themselves if in their opinion such transaction

as Custodian for the assets in the Account and shall appears inadvisable for the Account. Client recognizes

not be liable to Chent for any act, conduct or that transactions in a specific security may not be
omission by Custodian, Adviser is hereby authorized accomplished for all clients at the same time at the
and empowered to issue instructions to Custodian same price.

and to reguest information about the Account from

Custodian.

. Custody - The assets in the Account shall be held
for safekeeping with Sterne, Agee, & Leach, Inc.,

7. Liability - Adviser shall not be subject 10 liability for
any act or omission in the course of, or connected
with, its performance of this agreement, except in the
case of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross
negligence on the part of the Adviser, or the reckless

3. Reports to Chient - Adviser will send Client an
inventory of the investments, list of transactions, and
performance returns of the Account as soon as
reasonably possible after the end of each quarterly

eriod, Copies of confirmations of transactions under this agreement, but nothing herein shall in any
p p 4 g ¥

executed will be sent promptly to. the Client or its way constitute a waiver or limitation of any rights
designated party by the Custodian. Adviser does not which Client may have under any federal or state
assume  responsibility for the accuracy of securities law or the Employee Retirement Income

information furnished by Custodian or any other Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA™), if applicable. All
‘ ' actions taken by Adviser hereunder, either before or

pag‘fy-‘ .
~ after the death or incapacity of the undersigned, but

AD Vallet & Co. LLC
Private Wealth Munagemont ¢ bnesuneni ddvicons Agreemend
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before receipt by Adviser of information of such
death or.incapacity, shall be binding upon Client and
Client’s legal representatives who shall hold Adviser
harmless hereunder from all Hability arising from
such action so taken. '

8. Disclaimers and Limitations - The Client’s
investments are subject to risks associated with
investing in securities, including various market,
currency, economic, political and business risks. The
Adviser does not guarantee the performance of the
Client’s investments or guarantee that the Adviser’s
investment advice or strategies will be successful or
that the Client’s investment objectives will be met.
In the event that the Client directs Adviser to use a
particular broker or dealer, the Adviser may not be
authorized under those circumstances to negotiate
commissions and may not be able 1w obtain volume
discounts or best execution. [n addition, under these
circumstances s disparity in commission charges
may exist between the commissions charged to
clients who direct the Adviser to use a particular
broker or dealer.

9. Agreement Not Assignable - No assignment (as
that term is defined in the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940) of this Agreement ;may be made by either
party without written consent of the non-assigning
party. For purposes of determining Client consent in
the event of an assignment, Adviser will send the
Client written notice of the Assignment. If the Client
does not object in writing within sixty (60) days of
sending of such notice, the Client will be deemed to
have consented to the assignment. This Agreement
and all subseguent amendments shall inure to the
benefit of the successor and assigning of the parties
hereto. :

16. Adviser Representations - Adviser represents that
it is registered as an investment adviser under the
Advisers Act and that such registration is currently
effective. If the Account is subject to ERISA,
Adviser acknowledges that it is a “fiduciary™ {as that
term is defined by ERISA) with respect to the
Account.

11. Ciient Representations - Client represents that
semployment of Adviser, including the right to make
decisions with respect to the voting of proxies, if
granted, is authorized by, has been accomplished in

accordance with, and does not violate, the documents
governing the Account, Client, will furnish Adviser
with true copies of all governing documents. If the
Account is subject to ERISA: (i) Client acknowledges
that it is a “named fiduciary™ with respect to control or
management of the assets of the Account; (ii) Client
agrees to obtain and maintain 2 bond, satisfying the
requirements of Section 412 of ERISA, and to include
Adviser and its agents among those insured under that
bond; and (iii) Client represents that Adviser’s
investment strategy is appropriate for the Account’s
assets,

12. Termination - This agreement may be terminated at
any time by either party upon 30 days’ written notice
to the other party. Fees will be prorated to date of
termination. In the event of termination of this
agreement, Adviser shall bhave no obligation
whatsoever to recommend any action with respect to
or to liguidate the assets in the Account. Adviser shall
be entitled to be paid its fees in connection with its

ervices provided hereunder for the peried to such
termination.

13. Communieations - Instructions with respect to
securities transactions may be given orally or via
facsimile anpd where deemed necessary, may be
confirmed in writing as scon as possible. Notices
required to be given under this agreement, but not
including reports to clients, shal! be delivered by hand
or by overnight mail or sent by certified or registered
mail and shall be deemed given when received at the
address specified below, and, as to the Custodian, at
such address as it may specify to the Adviser in
writing, or at such other address as a party to receive
notice may specify in a notice given in accordance
with this provision. Adviser may rely on any notice
from any person reasonably believed to be genuine
and authorized,

14. Fees - For Adviser's services, Client will pay a
management fee based on the market value of the
Account in accordance with the negotiated fes printed
below. Adviser's fees are exclusive of and in addition
to any fzes assessed by the funds that the Client’s
account is invested in and/or fees charged by the
Custadian. The percentage fee will be prorated for any
period of tess than a quarter year, but a fee shall be due
for each such quarter during any part of which Adviser

is managing the Account. One fourth of the annual

AD. Vallett & Co. LLC
Private Wealih Mavagement ¢ fevestmene Advisory dgreemeni
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management fee will be charged in advance each
quarter based upon the Account’s market value at
the end of the quarter. The management fee may be
deducted directly from Client’s Account by the
Custodian and automatically remitted fo Adviser.
Adviser will mail Client a copy of the bill and it is
the Client’s responsibility to verify the accuracy of
the fee calculation. The annual fee will be
determined based on the ending aggregate market
value of the assets in the Account each guarter,
Client is responsible for any management fee
accrued from the beginning of the quarter to the date
of termination. Adviser is responsible for refund of
any payment made in advance accrued from the
beginning of the guarter to the date of termination.

Annual % Fee /

15. Disclosure - Client acknowledges that he/she has
read the foregoing and has kept a copy for future
reference, and Client acknowledges receipt of
Adviser’s Disclosure Statement, as required by Rule
204-3 under the Advisers Act.

16. Severability - If any provision in this agreement is
invalid or unenforceable, the remamder of the
agreement will continue in full force and effect.

17. Amendment and Waiver - The Adviser may
change this agreement with prior notice to the
Client. The failure to insist on strict compliance with
this agreement will not constitute a waiver of rights
under the agreement.

18. Arbitration - Client hereby agrees that all
controversies which may arise between Client and
the Adviser concerning anmy transaction or the
construction, performance, or breach of this
agreement between Client and the Adviser, whether
entered into prior to, on, or subsequent to the date
hereof, shall be determined by arbitration. Client
understands that this agreement to arbitrate does not
constitute a waiver of the right to seek 2 judicial
forum where such waiver would be void under
federal securities laws. Any arbitration shall be held
in the city chosen by the Adviser or the American
Arbitration Association, pursuant to the Arbitration
Laws of Tennessee, or before the American
Arbitration Association and in accordance with its
sules then applying.

19. Captions - The captions in this agreement are
included for convenience of reference only and in no
way define or delimit any of the provisions hereof or
otherwise affect their construction or effect.

20. Entire Agreemént - This ‘agreement constitutes the
entire agreement of the parties with respect fo
management of the Account and can be amended only
by written document signed by both parties. This
agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties
hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and
governed by the law of the State of Tennessee, without
giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.

21, Signatures — In witness whereof, the Client and
Adviser have executed this Agreement on the day,
month, and year written below: -
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Client Signature /Date
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Name of Client (type or print)

Second Signature (joint account) Date

Name of Client (type or print)

{f corporation or other entity:

Signature Date

Name of Chient (type or print) Title

Acecepted by A.D. Yallett & Co, LLC:!

I [E=6 -0F

Signature Bate
Aaron D. Vallett President
Name Title
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EXHIBIT 6



BEFORE THE COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE AND INSURANCE
FOR THE STATE OF TENNESSEE

TID Order No.: 10-046

AD. VALLETT & CO., LLC,

AD. VALLETT & COMPANY,
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND I, LLC, )
A.D. VALLETT COLLATERAL FUND II, LLC,)
A.D. VALLETT INCOME & OPPORTUNITY )

TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION, )
TENNESSEE INSURANCE DIVISION, )
Petitioners. ) Docket # 12.06-108775J
) ,
vS. ) TSD Order No.: 10-008
)
)
)

FUND I, LLC, and )

AARON DONALD VALLETT, )

Respondents. }
AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF TENNESSEE )
)
COUNTY OF DAVIDSON )

I, DANA VERNON, HAVING BEEN DULY SWORN, DEPOSE AND SAY AS
FOLLOWS:

1. I am employed as a Securities Examiner with the Securities Reg.istrvation Section of
the Tennessee Securities Division (“TSD™), Tennessee Department of Commerce and Insurance.

2. As a Securities Examiner with the Securities Registration Section, I am responsible
for the maintenance and use of documents and electronically transmitted information received by the
Securities Registration Section relating to the registration of securities products registered with the

State of Tennessee and/or the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such

documents and electronically transmitted information contain the product information for all



- products which have been registered pursuant to the Tennessee Securities Act of 1980, as amended

(Act), for sale from, in, or into Tennessee.

3. At the request of the Enforcement Section of the TSD, I have searched the records of
the Securities Registration Section and the SEC to determine wixéther ﬁhe A.D. Vallett 'C:ollaterai
Fund 1, LLC was registered with the Division for sale from, in, or into Tennessee as required by the
Act. My search of the TSD records included a search for any notice filings or exemption claims filed

'fOF A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund I, LLC. My search included a search for any necessary filings with

the SEC to qualify for either a SEC Regulation D Rule 504 or SEC Regulation D Rule 506
exemption. My search included a search for any articles of incorp@ration with the State of Delaware
Division of Corporations for A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund I, LLC.

4. My search revealed that the A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund I, LLC is not currently
registered under the Act for sale from, in, or into Tennessee and has never been registered as required
by the Act. My search DID NOT REVEAL ANY requisite notice filings with the TSD or SEC
Regulation D filings as required by TENN. CODE ANN. § 48-2-125(b) in order to exempt the securities
from state registration. Taﬁn‘esseé does not recognize the Rule 504 exemption. My search reveaﬁed

“that A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund I, LLC did not legally exist until June 3, 2010, when it was
incorporated with the State of Delaware Division of Corporations as a newly formed Delaware
Iimited liability company.

5 If'an issuer or seller intends to rely on an exemption or prior registratioh with another

jurisdiction, then he or she must make such a filing with the TSD. As of the date noted below there

have not been any notice filings or exemption claims filed for A.D. Vallett Collateral Fund I, LLC.
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SIS ﬁotary Public
My commission expires: /4/ G, LT
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